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DOUGLAS E. GERSHUNY, EXEC. DIR.
SOUTH JERSEY LEGAL SERVICES, INC.
745 Market St.
Camden, NJ 08102
Phone: 856-964-2010, Ext. 6232
Email: OPomar@lsnj.org
By: OLGA D. POMAR, ESQ.
Attorneys for Plaintiffs

AARP FOUNDATION LITIGATION
601 E Street, NW
Washington, DC 20049
Phone: (202) 434-2060
Email: SSilverstein@aarp.org
By: SUSAN ANN SILVERSTEIN, ESQ.
(pending admission pro hac vice)
Attorneys for Plaintiffs

POTTER & DICKSON
194 Nassau Street
Princeton, NJ 08542
Phone: (609) 921-9555
Email: Potterrex@cs.com
By: R. WILLIAM POTTER, ESQ.
Attorneys for Plaintiffs
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY
CAMDEN VICINAGE
MT. HOLLY GARDENS CITIZENS IN
ACTION, INC., a New Jersey non-profit
corporation, PEDRO AROCHO, REYNALDO
AROCHO, ANA AROCHO, LYRA
BAEDRESINGH, CHRISTINE BARNES,
BERNICE CAGLE, LEON CALHOUN,
GEORGE CHAMBERS, DOROTHY
CHAMBERS, SANTOS CRUZ, ELIDA
ECHEVARIA, NORMAN HARRIS, MATTIE
HOWELL, NANCY LOPEZ, VINCENT
MUNOZ, ELMIRA NIXON, LEONARDO
PAGAN, ROSEMARY ROBERTS, WILLIAM
ROBERTS, LISSETTE RODRIGUEZ,
EFRAIM ROMERO, HENRY SIMONS,
JOYCE STARLING, TAISHA TIRADO,
RADAMES TORRES-MORENO, LILLIAN
TORRES-MORENO, DAGMAR VICENTE,
CHARLIE MAE WILSON and LEONA
WRIGHT,
vs.
(continued)

Plaintiffs,

Case No.:

COMPLAINT
AND
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
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TOWNSHIP OF MOUNT HOLLY, a
municipal corporation of the State of New Jersey,
TOWNSHIP COUNCIL OF TOWNSHIP OF
MOUNT HOLLY, as governing body of the
Township of Mount Holly, KATHLEEN
HOFFMAN, as Township Manager of the
Township of Mount Holly, BROOKE
TIDSWELL, III, as Mayor of the Township of
Mount Holly, KEATING URBAN PARTNERS,
L.L.C., a company doing business in New Jersey,
TRIAD ASSOCIATES, INC., a corporation
doing business in New Jersey,
Defendants.
I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
1. This is a civil rights action challenging Mount Holly Township’s (“Township”) widescale redevelopment of the neighborhood known as Mt. Holly Gardens (“Gardens”). Plaintiffs
are an asso ciation of residen ts, Mt. Holly Gardens Citize ns in Actio n, Inc., (“CIA”), and 29
individual residents (“R esidents”) living in th e Gardens, which is a cohesive, ethn ically diverse
neighborhood within Mt. Holly Township that is predominantly African-American and Hispanic
with m ostly low and moderate in

come f amilies. CIA a nd Residents are cha llenging th e

Township’s sweeping redevelopm ent project that is demolishing existing hom

es, displacing

numerous families, and dismantling and destroying the entire Gardens neighborhood.
2. The Township and its redevelopers have

been and currently are aggress

ively

implementing their redevelopm ent project, ultim ately seeking acquisition, through p urchase and
eminent domain, and t otal demolition of all 329 homes within the Gardens redevelopm ent area
affordable to curr ent a nd displace d f amilies and replace ment with new, m uch higher-p riced
market rate hom es intended for households th

at are more affluent. In carrying out

redevelopment, the Township and its redevelopers have greatly increased blighted conditions and
have rendered the Gardens unsafe and unlivable.
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of em inent dom ain, the Township has sys tematically acqu ired, vacated and boarded up m ore
than 200 previously occupied homes—approxim ately two-thirds of all

residential properties

within the Gardens—and has demolished to date approximately 70 properties. If not stopped, the
Township and its redev elopers will succeed in irrevocably tearing do wn the m ost iden tifiable
minority community within Mt. Holly—with the highest rates of African-American and Hispanic
homeownership within Burlington County—and

permanently displacing hundreds of lower

income minority residents from their community where they will no lon ger be able to af ford to
live.
3. In prio r state court litig

ation, the Town

ship’s findin g of “blight,” i.e., its

determination that the Garden s neighborhood m et New Je rsey’s cr iteria for designation as an
“area in need of redevelopm ent,” was upheld in April 2005. However, in August 2005 and
subsequently upheld on appeal in 2007, CIA’s and Re sidents’ civil rights and other substantive
challenges to the redevelopment plan were dismissed without prejudice as then not being ripe for
adjudication.
4. These claim s are now unquestionably ripe

in light of the Township’s subsequent

destructive im plementation ac tions devastating the Gardens

community. Specifically, the

Township and its redevelopers have unlawfully discriminated against the Residents on the basis
of race and national o rigin in violation of Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968, 42 U.S.C. §
3601 et seq .; the Civil Rights Act of 1866, 42 U.S.C.

§ 1982; the New Jersey Law Against

Discrimination, N.J.S.A. 10:5-1 et seq.; and Equal Protection under the United S tates and New
Jersey Constitu tions. Furthe

rmore, the To

wnship’s a ctions depr ive Res idents of ju st

compensation by driving down the value of thei

3

r hom es, while the Township has f

ailed to
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adequately plan or prepare for replacem

ent hous ing realistically affordable to curren

t and

displaced residents.
5. The Township has also acted arb itrarily, capriciously, unreasonably, ultra vires an d
unconstitutionally, by m aking substantial de facto changes to the red evelopment plan in clo sed
meetings and im plementing the revisions withou t engaging in the public process m andated by
law to am end a redevelo pment plan, in viola tion of the New Jersey Loc al Redevelopment and
Housing Law, N.J.S.A. 40A:12A-1 et. seq., and the Open Public Meetings Act, N.J.S.A. 10:40-6
et. seq., as well as procedural due process of law as guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to
the United States Constitution and fundamental fairness protected under Article 1, Paragraph 1 of
the New Jersey Constitution. The Township

has add itionally acte d unconstitutionally in

violation of the general welfar e under Article I, Paragraph 1, of the New Jersey Cons titution, by
carrying out redevelopment activities that will result in the destruction and substantial net loss of
housing affordable to lo w and moderate income families, as well as the forcible displacement of
hundreds of low and moderate income residents from the Gardens community without providing
affordable replacement housing.
6. Residents and CIA se ek, am ong other thi ngs, declaratory and injunctive relief:
invalidating the redevelopm ent plan; m andating th at the To wnship car ry out redev elopment in
the Gardens in a m anner having the least disc riminatory adverse impact upon African-American
and Hispanic households; and prohibiting implementation without providing adequate affordable
replacement housing for all current and displace d Gardens residents. R esidents and CIA als o
seek damages and/or just compensation sufficient for Residents to secure permanent replacement
housing in the local housing market.
II. JURISDICTION
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7. Jurisdiction over the Plaintiffs ’ claims is conferred on th is court by 28 U.S.C. § 1331
(federal question jurisdiction) in that this action arises under th e Constitution and laws of the
United States; 28 U.S.C. § 1343(a)(4) because the Plaintiffs seek equitable and other relief under
Acts of Congress provid ing for the protection of civil rights under Title V III of the Civil Rights
Act of 1968, 42 U.S.C. § 3601 et seq.; 42 U.S.C. § 3613 for civil act ions under Title VIII of the
Civil Rights Act of 1968, 42 U.S.C. § 3601

et seq .; and 42 U.S.C. § 1983, which provides

redress for the deprivation, under color of state law, of rights, privileges and immunities secured
to all c itizens and pers ons within the jurisd iction of the United Sta tes by the Constitu tion and
laws of the United States.
8. Plaintiffs seek declaratory and injunctive relief against the D efendants pursuant to 28
U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202 and injunctive relief pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 3613(c)(1).
9. In addition, 28 U.S.C. § 1367 confers supple

mental jurisdiction on this court over

Plaintiffs’ related claims under state law.
10.

Venue is proper in this district purs

uant to 28 U.S.C.

§ 1391(b) because the

Plaintiffs’ claims arose in this district.
III. PARTIES
A. Plaintiffs
11.

Plaintiff Mt. Holly Ga rdens Citiz ens in Ac tion (“CIA”), In c., is a voluntary

membership non-profit corporation composed of residents of Mt. Holly Gardens. Its prim ary
purpose is to advocate for the wellbeing and the be tterment of the resident s and neighborhood.
Its address is: c/o Santos Cruz, 356 South Martin Ave, Mt. Holly, New Jersey 08060
brings this action on its own beha

. CIA

lf and on beha lf of its m embers. The individually nam ed

Plaintiffs are members of CIA.
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12.

Plaintiff Pe dro Arocho is a resident

of Mt. Holly Gardens living at 316 South

Martin Street, Mt. Holly, New Jersey 08060. He owns his home. He is Hispanic.
13.

Plaintiffs Reynaldo and Ana Arocho are re sidents of Mt. Holly Gardens living at

154 Levis Drive, Mt. Holly, New Jersey 08060. They have lived in the Gardens for 19 years.
They own their home. They are Hispanic.
14.

Plaintiff Lyra Baedresingh is a resident of Mt. Holly Gardens living at 303 South

Martin Street, Mt. Holly, New Jersey 08060. She is a homeowner. She is African-American.
15.

Plaintiff Christine Barnes is a resident of Mt. Holly Gardens living at 122 Joseph

Place, Mt. Holly, New Jersey 08060. She is a tenant. She is White.
16.

Plaintiff Be rnice Cagle is a resident

of Mt. Holly Gardens living at 281 Grant

Street, Mt. Holly, New Jersey 08060. She is a homeowner. She is African-American.
17.

Plaintiff Leon Calhoun is a resident of Mt. Holly Gardens living at 113 Levis Drive,

Mt. Holly, New Jersey 08060. He is a homeowner. He is African-American.
18.

Plaintiffs George and Doro thy Chambers are residents of Mt. Holly Gardens living

at 341 South Martin, Mt. Holly, New Jersey 08060. They are hom eowners and senior citizens.
They are African-American.
19.

Plaintiff Santos Cruz is a resident of Mt. Holly Garden s living at 137 Joseph Place,

Mt. Holly, New Jersey 08060. He is a homeowner. He is Hispanic.
20.

Plaintiff Elida Echevaria is a resident

of Mt. Holly Gardens living at 370 South

Martin Street, Mt. Holly, New Jersey 08060. She owns her home. She is Hispanic.
21.

Plaintiff Norm an Harris is a resident of Mt. Holly Gardens living at 313 South

Martin Street, Mt. Holly, New Je rsey 08060. He is a senior citizen and has lived in the property
for 36 years. He is a homeowner. He is African-American.

6
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22.

Plaintiff Mattie Howell is a resident of

Mt. Holly Gardens living at 118 Levis

Drive, Mt. Holly, New Jersey 08060. She has lived there with her family for 37 years. She is a
homeowner and a senior citizen. She is African-American.
23.

Plaintiff Nancy Lopez is a resident of Mt. Holly Gardens living at 319 North Martin

Street, Mt. Holly, New Jersey 08060. She is a homeowner. She is Hispanic.
24.

Plaintiff Vincent Munoz is a resident

Martin Street, Mt. Holly, New Jersey 08060. He

of Mt. Holly Gardens living at 382 South
is a senior citizen and a hom eowner. He is

Hispanic.
25.

Plaintiff Elmira Nixon is a resident of Mt . Holly Gardens living at 21 Saul Place,

Mt. Holly, New Jersey 08060. She is an elderl y widow and is hom ebound. She owns her own
home and has lived there lived there for 28 years. She is African-American.
26.

Plaintiffs William and Rosemary Roberts are residents of Mt. Holly Gardens living

at 346 South Martin Street, Mt. H olly, New Je rsey 08060. They are hom eowners. They are
White.
27.

Plaintiff Lissette Rodriguez is a resident of Mt. Holly Gardens living at 354 South

Martin Street, Mt. Holly, New Jersey 08060. She is a homeowner. She is Hispanic.
28.

Plaintiff Ef raim Rom ero is a resident of Mt. Holly Ga rdens liv ing at 115 Joseph

Place, Mt. Holly, New Jersey 08060. He is a homeowner. He is Hispanic.
29.

Plaintiff Henry Sim ons is a resident of Mt. Holly Garden s living at 7 Saul Place,

Mt. Holly, New Jersey 08060. He has lived there fo
homeowner. He is White.
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30.

Plaintiff Joyce Starling is a resident of Mt. Holly Gardens living at 23 Saul Place,

Mt. Holly, New Jersey 08060. She has lived there

for 36 years. She is a hom eowner. She is a

senior citizen and is African-American.
31.

Plaintiffs Taisha Tirado and Leonardo Pa gan are residents of Mt. Holly Gardens

living at 211 Levis Drive, Mt. Holly, New Jersey 08060. They are tenants. They are Hispanic.
32.

Plaintiffs Radames and Lillian Tor res-Moreno are res idents of Mt. Holly Gardens

living at 308 North Martin Str eet, Mt. Holly, New Jersey 08060. . They are hom eowners. He is
Hispanic.
33.

Plaintiff Dagm ar Vicente is a resident of Mt. Holly Gardens living at 371 South

Martin Street Mt. Holly, New Jersey 08060. She rents the prem

ises a nd lives there with two

children. She is White.
34.

Plaintiff Charlie Mae W ilson is a resid ent of Mt. Holly Gardens living at 120

Joseph Place, Mt. Holly, New Jersey 08060. She is 78 years old and owns her own home. She is
African-American.
35.

Plaintiff Leona Wright is a resident of Mt. Holly Gardens living at 208 Levis Drive,

Mt. Holly, New Jersey 08060. She is a hom eowner and has lived there for 33 year s. She is 89
years old and widowed. She is African-American.
B. Defendants
36.

The Township Defendants, herein referred to as “Township,” are as follows:
a.

Defendant Township of Mount Holly (“ Township”) is a municipal corporation
chartered under the laws of the State of New Jersey.

b. Defendant Township Council of Township of Mount Holly is the governing body
of the Township. The Council is responsible for the passage of local ordinances

8
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and resolutions, including Ordina

nce No. 2003-12 adopting the Gardens

Redevelopment Plan, Ordinance 2005-

07 adopting the W

est Rancocas

Redevelopment Plan, and all ordinances and resolutions related to the effectuation
of its redevelopment plan, for the appointment of the Township Manager, and for
passing and modifying the Township’s budget.
c. Defendant Kathleen H offman is the Township Manager of the Township of
Mount Holly and is the chief executive and administrative officer of the Township
responsible for the overall adm

inistration of the Township'

s agencies and

execution of the Township' s laws. Defendant Hoffm an is sued herein in her
official capacity.
d.

Defendant Brooke Tidswell, III, is the Ma yor of the Township of Mount Holly
and is responsible, inter alia, for presiding over Township Council m eetings and
executing bonds, notes, contracts and wr

itten obligations of the Township.

Defendant Tidswell is sued herein in his official capacity.
37.

The Redeveloper Defendants, herein referred to as “Redevelopers,” are as follows:
a. Defendant Keating Urban Partners, L.L.

C. (“Keating” ) is a lim ited liability

company with offices located at On e Liberty Place, New Brunswick, NJ 08901.
Defendant Keating entered into a redevelopment agreement with the Township to
implement the WR Redevelopment Plan and has been actively engaged since tha t
time in project planning, development, and implementation.
b. Defendant Triad Associates, Inc. (“Triad”) is a corporation doing business in New
Jersey with offices at 238 W est Chestnut Avenue, Vineland, NJ 08360, which the
Township and/or Keating hired to a

9
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Redevelopment Plan, including but not lim ited to serving as property m anager of
Township-owned rental properties and conducting relocation activities.
IV. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS
A. Mt. Holly Gardens Neighborhood
38.

Mt. Holly Gardens (“the Gardens”) is situated on 30 acres of land within downtown

Mt. Holly Township in Burlington County, New Jersey.
39.

It is a cohesive, racially and ethnically diverse community.

40.

At the time the redevelopment process started in 2000, the neighborhood contained

329 houses.
41.

The houses were constructed during the 1950s.

42.

Houses are prim arily two-st ory buildings of solid bric k construction with joists

made of old-growth hardwood, and are situated in rows of 8 to 10 homes set back approximately
50 feet from the street, allowing for front and back yards.
43.

Many homes are well-m aintained and ha ve attractively landscaped yards and

gardens.
44.

Until app roximately M arch 2004 there was a playground area of app roximately

14,000 square feet and a community center co

nverted fro m a dwelling unit, both

which the

Township owned.
B. Residents of Mt. Holly Gardens
45. According to the 2000 U.S. Cens
423,394. Of the total population, W

us, Bu rlington County’s total population was

hites comprised 323,171—76.3%; African-Am ericans

comprised 62,476—14.8%; and Hispanics comprised 17,632—4.2%.
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46.

According to the 2000 U.S. Census, Mount Holly Township’s total population was

10,728. Of the total population, Whites comprised 7,101—66.2%; African-Americans comprised
2,231 —20.8%; and Hispanics comprised 942 —8.8%.
47.

The reside ntial sectio n of the Gard

ens redevelop ment area correspon

ds

approximately to Blocks 1000, 1001, 1003 and 1009 of U.S. Census Tract 7026.04., Burlington
County, New Jersey.
48.

Approximately 1,031 residents lived within

the Census Blocks corresponding to

the residential section of the Garden s redevelopment area. W ithin the r esidential section of the
Gardens redevelopm ent area, W hites com prised approxim ately 203 residents—only 19.7%,
compared to 475—46.1% —African-American residents and 297—28.8%—Hispanic residents.
49.

Thus, African-Am erican and Hispanic

residents com prised the overwhelm ing

majority—nearly 75%—of the residents living in the Gardens redevelopment area.
50.

Further, according to the 2000 U.S. Census , the concentration of African-Am erican

and Hispanic residents in the Gardens was

the highest of any neighborhood in Mt. Holly

Township and m uch higher compared to Burlin gton County, while the concentration of Whites
was comparatively much lower.
a. 46.1% of the Gardens redevelopm ent area was African-Am erican, compared to
only 20.8% for Mt. Holly Township and 14.8 % for Burlington County.
b. 28.8% of the Gardens redevelopm ent area was Hispanic, compared to only 8.8%
for Mt. Holly Township and only 4.2% for Burlington County.
c. Only 19.7% of the Gardens redevelopm
compared to 66.2% for Mt. Holly Town
County.
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d. In addition, approxim ately 31.5% of Mt . H olly Township’s entire Hispanic
population and approxim ately 21,3% of Mt . Holly Township’s entire AfricanAmerican population lived within the Ga rdens redevelopment area, compared to
only 2.9% of the entire non-Hispanic, White population.
51. Further, according to the 2000 U.S. Census, the m

edian household incom e in the

Gardens redevelopment area was only $30,104, while the median income for the Township was
$43,284, and the median income of Burlington County was $58,608.
52. According to the 2000 Census, in Cens us Tract 7026.04 containing the Gardens, the
housing characteristics were as follows:
a. 50% of the households in Census Tract

7026.04 were renters, and 50% were

homeowners.
b. 31% of the African-American households we re homeowners while the percentage
in the entire Township was 13%, and the percentage in the County was 11%.
c. 17% of the Hispanic households were

homeowners while th e percen tage in the

entire Township was 8%, and the percentage in the County was 2%.
d. 81% of the owner-occupied households in Census Tract 7026.4 had lived in their
homes for at least 9 years, while 72% of the renter-occupied households had lived
in their homes for at least 5 years.
e. The median cost of homeownership for owner-occupied homes with mortgages in
Census Tract 7026.04 was only $969 a m

onth, com pared to $1,536 for the

Township and $1,393 for the County.
53.

According to the 2000 Census, the Gardens neighborhood therefore had a mong the

highest rates of African-American and Hispanic home ownership in Burlington County.
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54.

Despite the lower incom

es of the Gardens’ households, the com

munity is

remarkably stable and has many longtime residents.
55.

Residents have a strong sense of comm

unity and like that it is racially and

ethnically diverse.
56.

Many Gardens residents have family and friends living in the neighborhood.

57.

Residents enjoy the convenient location of the Gardens and its proximity to schools,

employment, businesses, and downtown.
58.

The stability of the Gardens neighborhood is attributable in part to lower housing

costs than that of Mt. Holly and Burlington

County, m aking the Gardens m ore affordable for

lower income households.
59.

According to a m ore recen t survey conducted by Tria d in July 2006, the average

monthly homeowner cost being paid in the Gardens is $445 and the average rent is $696.
60.

In addition, m any longtime homeowners of th e Gardens, particularly seniors, paid

off their mortgages in full and can afford to keep their homes, although they would not be able to
purchase much higher-priced homes in the current real estate market on their present incomes.
61.

According to a survey conducted by pla nners comm issioned by the Township in

2000, 90% of the households in the Gardens had annual in comes below $40,000, 43% earned
between $20,000 and $40,000, and nearly half—47%—earned less than $20,000.
C. Redevelopment Activities Before 2002
62.

For alm ost thirty years, comm

unity m embers and Mt. Holly Township have

engaged in various planning initiatives to improve living conditions in the neighborhood.
63.

These planning initiatives included a co

resulted in developm ent of a strategy to incr

mmunity-led effort in the 1980’s that

ease the hom eownership ra te th rough targeted
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property acquisition and rehabi

litation; howev er, th is str ategy was never adopted by the

Township.
64.

Another planning initiative was a housing

rehabilitation program known as “Mt.

Holly 2000.” Through this program, ten hom eowners in the Gardens obtain ed grants and loans
to fix up their properties.
65.

The Township subsequently decided not to

support such re vitalization ef forts. I t

instead began to plan for a sweeping redevelopm ent of the entire comm unity that would involve
acquisition and demolition of most or all of the Gardens homes.
66.

In 2000, the Township began to purchase properties in the Gardens and leave them

67.

In 2000, the Council also comm issioned a priv ate firm , THP, Inc., to investigate

vacant

whether the Gardens neighborhood met the criteria of an “area in need of redevelopment” within
the meaning of N.J.S.A. 40A:12A-1 et. seq.
68.

In Novem ber 2000, T HP, Inc. prepared a report entitled “Redevelopm ent Area

Determination Report” (“2000 Redevelopment Report”), which it presented to the Council.
69.

As part of the preparation of this 2000 Re

development Report, the planners

conducted a survey of the Gardens residents.
70.

The survey dem onstrated that when questioned about the Township’s plans for

redevelopment, res idents were concerned abou t displacement and that m ore than 2/3 of the
residents stated that they would prefer to remain living in the Gardens.
D. Redevelopment Planning and Formal Adoption of Redevelopment Plan
71.

The Township adopted a Master Plan pursuant to the Municipal Land Use Law,

N.J.S.A. 40:55D-1 et seq., dated April 13, 2000.
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72.

The Master Plan set forth certain goals, which included improving the qualify of

Mount Holly’s housing stock, upgrading the Gardens Area, and utilizing the LRHL to Mount
Holly’s best advantage.
73.

With regard to the upgrade of the Gardens area, the Master Plan stated that one

objective of this Master Plan is to upgrade the quality of units and the character of area, and that
measures should be taken to reduce the overall density in the Gardens Area, to rehabilitate
deteriorated units, and to provide additional amenities.
74.

In the land use plan element, the Master Plan characterizes the Gardens as one of

two “high density areas” containing some deteriorated units, high proportion of rental properties,
and with overcrowding an identified problem. The Master Plan recommended
“redevelopment/revitalization” to allow for reduction of density, modernization of housing stock,
and improvement to overall perception of the area.
75.

On July 30, 2002, Council passed Reso

lution No. 2002-166 authorizing the

Township’s Planning Board to undertake a preliminary investigation and to hold a public hearing
to determine whether the Gardens neighborhood was an area in need of redevelopment.
76.

The Planning Board subsequently received a report prepared by THP, Inc. entitled

“Redevelopment Area Determination Report,” dated September 3, 2002.
77.

The September 3, 2002 Redevelopm ent Ar ea Determ ination Report was alm ost

identical to the 2000 Redevelopment Report prepared for Council.
78.

On September 16, 2002, the Planning Board

held the first public hearing on the

question whether the Gardens should be designated as a redevelopment area.
79.

On October 21, 2002, the Planning Board passed Resolution No. 2002-10, adopting

the findings and conclusions of the 2002 Rede

velopment Report and recomm ending that the

15
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Township Council designate the Gardens neigh borhood as a “redevelopm ent area” within the
meaning of N.J.S.A. 40A:12A-1 et. seq.
80.

On October 28, 2002, the Council passed Resolution No. 2002-217, accepting the

factual findings of the 2002 Redevelopmen

t Report, accepting the Planning Board’s

recommendations and f ormally designating the Gardens neighborhood as an area in need of
redevelopment under N.J.S.A. 40A:12A-1 et seq.
81.

Resolution No. 2002-217 did not state or ot herwise indicate that by designating the

Gardens neighborhood as an area in need of rede

velopment, hom es in the Gardens would be

demolished.
82.

At the Planning Board hearing and at

misled Residents by telling them

the Council m eeting, Township officials

that in cluding their p roperties in an area in need of

redevelopment did not mean that the Township would take their properties by eminent domain.
83.

In April 2003, the Council publicly releas

ed a docum ent entitled “The Gardens

Area Redevelopment Plan” (“Gardens Redevelopment Plan”).
84.

The Gardens Redevelopment Plan provided for the following:
a. Total dem olition of all the hom es in the neighborhood and relocation o f all the
residents.
b. Building 180 new housing units.
c. No construction of any affordable housing units.
d. No guarantee that any new housing in

the redevelopm ent community would be

made available for Gardens residents either before or after displacement.
e. No guarantee that any new housing in

the redevelopm ent community would be

realistically affordable for Gardens residents.
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f. Building only 30 rental units, available only to seniors.
85.

The proposed 180 new units would be m uch more expensive than existing hom es;

therefore, th e plan would perm anently d isplace current residents who are predom inately lowincome.
86.

On August 11, 2003, the Township held a

public hearing on the adoption of the

Gardens Redevelopment Plan.
87.

Over 100 residents appeared

before the Council protes ting against the proposed

redevelopment plan and the demolition of their homes.
88.

Among the objections raised by the residents were the following:
a.

They feel a strong sense of community and have pride in the comm unity.
Many are long-term residents. T hey feel surrounded by fa

mily and

friends. They like that it is racially and ethnically diverse.
b.

Many residents are low-incom e. Som e had bee n hom eless in the past.
They are f earful that th ey will not be able to a fford the new units tha t
were being planned for construction and that they will not be able to find
other housing in the area they could afford.

c.

Some residents, including som e elderly homeowners, have paid off thei r
mortgages. They are af raid that if they lose their homes they will nev er
be able to purchase another one.

89. Also on August 11, 2003, Plaintiff CIA submitted to the Township Council detailed
written objections to the Gardens Redevelopm ent Plan with proposed alternatives to dem olition
of the residents’ hom es, including that the Ga rdens Redevelopm ent Plan was drafted without
meaningful input from the residents and in disregard of the residents’ needs; that it discriminated
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against African-Am erican and Hisp anic res idents on the b asis of race and et hnicity; th at it did
not realistically provide for housing that was decent and affordable for the residen ts, either as to
units to be newly constructed in the Gardens area or replacement housing elsewhere in Mt. Holly
Township or Burlington County; and that it

would cause severe hardship by f

orcing m ost

residents, m any of whom have lived in the Ga

rdens for many years, to lose their hom

es and

move out of their community.
90.

On September 8, 2003, the Township

Council passed Ordinance No. 2003-12

adopting the Gardens Redevelopment Plan as originally proposed.
91.

On October 23, 2003, Plaintiffs CIA and 35 i ndividual residents filed an action in

the Superior Court of New Jersey, Law Di vision, Docket No. BU R-L-003027-03, challenging
the designation of the Gardens as an area in n

eed of redevelopm ent and the adoption of the

Gardens Redevelopment Plan under state law and on civil rights and constitutional grounds.
92.

In February 2005, the Township Council dir ected the Planning Board to consider

amending the Gardens Redevelopment Plan.
93.

On February 21, 2005, the Planning Board held a public hearing concerning a

revised redevelopment plan called the West Rancocas Redevelopment Plan (WR Redevelopment
Plan), which encom passed the Gardens neighb orhood and increased the area for commercial
redevelopment.
94.

The WR Redevelopment Plan proposed the following:
a.

228 new residential units.

b.

Permitted residential uses increased up to 50% for two-f amily dwellings,
up to 33% for townhouse/sen ior ap artment combination d wellings, an d
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up to 33% for townhouses. The permitted uses; however, did not includ e
any multifamily rental units.
c.

Demolition of existin g hom es and

new construction of the above

permitted uses.
d.

Possible rehabilitation of existing

units, but rehabilitation was purely

optional with no specified am ount or percentage of existing residential
units that were to be rehabilitated.
e.

Only 10% of the 228 dwelling un

its—a to tal of 23—to be affordable

housing units, with the remaining 205 units to be market rate units.
f.

Commercial development in the are ad jacent to the Mt. Holly Bypass
Road on the western edge of the redevelopment area.

95.

Many Gardens residents appeared and s poke at the Planning Board hearing on

February 21, 2005, raising the sam e objections to the proposed W R Redevelopm ent Plan that
they had raised concerning the Gardens Redevelopment Plan.
96.

Also on February 21, 2005, a planning e

xpert, Alan Mallach, FAICP, PP,

submitted a repor t and testif ied o n behalf of the re sidents reg arding the pro posed W R
Redevelopment Plan.
97.

In the report, Mr. Mallach opined that the rehabilitation option under the Plan was

at best illusory and that given the lower-income status of most of the Gardens residents, very few
if any of the families could afford the 205 market rate units.
98.

Mr. Ma llach also tes tified that the

Township could improve the Gardens

community using m uch less d rastic alternatives than the large-scale acquisition and demolition
called for the WR Redevelopment Plan.

19

Case 1:08-cv-02584-NLH-JS Document 1 Filed 05/27/08 Page 20 of 55 PageID: 20

99.

In addition, Plain tiff CIA subm itted deta iled wr itten comments to th e Planning

Board on February 21, 2005, raising num erous objections and recommendations, including: that
the W R Re development Plan should m andate as an overriding goal that existing hom
rehabilitated instead of de

molished to avoid

displacement of resi

es be

dents; th at th e W R

Redevelopment Plan sho uld permit multifamily re ntal housing—which constituted at leas t half
of the existing resid ential units in the Garde ns—among the perm itted uses; th at the W R
Redevelopment Plan unlawfully discrim inated against African-American and Hispanic residen ts
on the basis of race and ethnicity ; and that the WR Redevelopment Plan’s limit of 23 affordable
housing units was a misapplication of the new growth share regulations promulgated by the New
Jersey Council on Affordable H ousing (“COAH”) and was otherw ise contrary to the general
welfare under the New Jersey Constitution.
100.

At the conclusion of the public hearing on February 21, 2005, the Planning Board

passed a resolution recommending that the Council adopt the WR Redevelopment Plan, with the
recommendation to increase th e townhouse perm itted us e to up to 75% of the total 228
residential units.
101.

The Planning Board did not recomm end adoption of any a mendments addressing

the concerns raised by the residents and plaintiffs.
102.

On March 14, 2005, the Township Council held a public hearing on the adoption

of the WR Redevelopment Plan.
103.

Many residents appeared and voiced

similar concerns against the WR

Redevelopment Plan as stated before the Planning Board.
104.

Plaintiffs also subm itted written c omments sim ilar to th ose pres ented to the

Planning Board.
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105.

At the conclusion of the hearing, the Township Council adopted Ordinance 2005-

07, adopting the WR Redevelopment Plan.
106.

The Township Council disregarded all of the input it received from the Gardens

residents and failed to address the residents’ objections and concerns.
107.

The Township officials m ade false, m isleading, and/or inaccurate statem ents in

response to public com ments regarding the designation of the Gardens community as an area in
need of redevelopm ent and regarding the adopti on of the Gardens Redevelopm ent Plan and the
WR Redevelopment Plan.
108.

The Township also took other actions to a void informing the residents of its plans

and to minimize public comment and participation in the redevelopment process.
109.

CIA and the other plaintiffs in the stat e court litigation am ended their complaint

to alleg e that the ad

option of the W R Rede velopment Plan was in violation of stat

e

redevelopment law, civil rights laws, and the federal and state constitutions.
110.

On April 17, 2005, the Superior Court, the Hon. John Sweeney, held a bench trial

on the issue s of whether the Garde ns m et the st atutory criteria of a redevelopm ent area and
whether the W R Redevelopm ent Plan com plied with the re quirements of LRHL. On May 5,
2005, the court ruled in fa vor of the Township and entered judgment dismissing the prerogative
writ claims.
111.

On August 30, 2005, Judge Sw eeney granted the Township summ ary judgm ent

dismissing without prejudice the re sidents’ civil rights and cons titutional claim s upon finding
that they were not ripe for adjudication.
112.

On July 5, 2007, the New Jersey Superior Court, Appellate Division, affirmed the

rulings of the trial court. On December 11, 2007, the New Jersey Suprem
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residents’ petition for certif ication, and on February 5, 2008,

the New Jersey Suprem e Court

denied the residents’ motion for reconsideration.
113.

The Garden s redev elopment projec t is the only redeve lopment initia tive in M t.

Holly Township dur ing the las t 10 years th at calls f or lar ge-scale d emolition of hom es and
displacement of residents.
114.

The Township conducted a reexamination of its Master Plan in June 2007.

115.

The Master Plan Reexam ination repeats the discussion of the Gardens in the

Master Plan, and notes that the T

ownship is im proving the Gardens Ar ea by d eclaring it a

redevelopment area and adopting the W R Rede velopment Plan, which includes residential and
non-residential properties, as recommended in the Master Plan.
116.

The Reexam ination includes a secti

incorporate the specific proposals set out in the W

on of specific recommendations, which
R Re development Plan for Residential,

Commercial, Limited Industrial, and open space uses. The Reexamination does not propose any
changes to the Master Plan with regard to the Gardens Area.
E. Township’s and Redevelopers’ Implementation of the Redevelopment Plan
1. Acquisition of Properties
117.

By 2002, at the tim e the Gardens Plan was being considered by the Planning

Board and Council, the Township had acquired a to tal of 20 units, which it had intentionally lef t
vacant and boarded up rather than attempting to renovate or sell them.
118.

On November 10, 2003, the Township Council enacted Ordinance No. 2003-37,

authorizing Township of ficials to negotia te an d acquire all of the properties located in the
Gardens redevelopment area by voluntary sale or , if necessary, by condemnation, at a price no t
to exceed fair market value.
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119.

After adoption of the WR Redevelopm ent Plan in 2005, the Township increased

its efforts to acquire homes in the Gardens.
120.

In or about March 2005, the Township pur chased the 62 rental properties from

Fry Properties for approximately $53,000 per unit totaling $3.27 million.
121.

In or about April 2006, the Township obtained an appraisal report, which

determined that the value of a one-bedroom house in the Gardens was $32,000, a tw o-bedroom
house was $39,000, and a three-bedroom house was $49,000.
122.

Since 2006, the Township has purchased num erous homes at prices ranging from

$32,000 to $49,000, except for two pur

chases at $64,000 and one

purchase at $81,000 for

properties that contained two units converted into one larger home.
123.

By December 2007, the Township had acquired a total of 219 residential units out

of the 329 original homes in the Gardens redevelopment area. Most of these residential units had
been occupied by tenants or homeowners before the Township acquired them. The Township had
demolished 42 of its acquired units, and kept 165 of the remaining 177 units vacant and boarded.
124.

Because the Township had not re-rented or re-sold its un its upon acqu isition, the

Township’s acquisitions increased the overall vacancy rate in the Gardens to nearly 65%.
125.

Since December 2007, the Township has de molished an ad ditional 31 residen tial

units, for a total 73 demolished units,
126.

The only measures the Township has taken to secure its vacan t properties has to

put particle board panels on th e windows and to plaster large or ange “no trespassing signs” on
them.
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127.

The Township has not adequately secured or maintained the houses and yards of

the properties it owns, allowing these properties

to deteriorate and becom e vandalized by

trespassers.
128.

The vacant Township-owned properties have caused and are continuing to cause a

severely blighting and deleterious effect

on the Gardens neighborhood, created risk of

infestation, fire hazards, and mold, and encouraged further disinvestment in the community.
129.

The Township and Redevelopers have m ade and are continuing to m ake offers to

Gardens property owners to purchase units for the prices of $32,000 for a one-bedroom house,
$39,000 for a two-bedroom house, and $49,000 for a three-bedroom house.
130.

The Township recently initiated the em inent domain process against one absentee

property owner to acquire additional properties.
131.

On April 12, 2008, the Township Council in troduced and passed on first reading

Ordinance 2008-12. The Ordinance stat es that the Township is or wi ll be the owner of all of the
properties in the redevelopm ent area, and author izes the Mayor, and/or the Township Manager
and/or Township Clerk to negotiate and execute a Purchase and Sale Agreem ent, and all o ther
necessary documents, between the Township and Re developers for all of the properties for the
minimum purchase price of $9 million and to execute any documents necessary to effectuate the
sale, including any documents that may be required for Eminent Domain proceedings.
2. Selection of Redevelopers
132.

On February 15, 2006, the Township executed a Redevelopm ent Agreement with

Defendant Keating.
133.

In or about March 2006, Keating hired Triad to conduct the relocation activities

associated with the WR Redevelopment Plan.
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134.

Pursuant to Exhibit C of the Redevel opment Agreement, Keating was to for m a

single purpose lim ited liability co rporation with another redevel oper, Pennrose Properties, with
Keating assigning its rights and obligations und er the Redevelopm ent Agreement to the newly
formed LLC and m aintaining m ajority owner ship. Upon inform ation and belief, the single
purpose limited liability corpora tion described in Exhibit C of the Redevelopm ent Agreem ent
has not yet been formed and is presently not in existence.
135.

Keating subsequently began to take vari ous actions to m ove the redevelopm ent

project forward including obtaini ng a survey; negotiating on beha lf of the Township f or the
acquisition of a num ber of properties; m eeting with various professionals such as planners,
architects, and engineers; and submitting applications for permits and approvals.
136.

On February 23, 2007, the Redevelopers

becam e responsible for property

management of the Township-owned properties.
3. Relocation of Gardens Residents
137.

On September 28, 20

06, the To wnship subm itted a Workable Relocation

Assistance Plan (“Relocation Plan”) to the New Jersey Department of Community Affairs.
138.

The Relocation Plan provided the following:

a.

Proposed relocation of all current Gardens residents.

b.

A “Right of First Opportun ity” for residents to retu rn to the Gardens area
after the redevelopment project is completed.

c.

No provision that any replacem ent un its re alistically af fordable to the
residents would be created in the Gardens
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d.

No provision that any replacem ent un its re alistically af fordable to the
residents would be created in any other areas in the Towns

hip or in the

surrounding region.
e.

All residents on August 1, 2006, woul

d be eligible for relocation

assistance.
f.

Qualified resident homeowners would

be elig ible, in addition to th

e

$15,000.00 required by N.J.A.C. 5:11-3.7(a), for a $20,000 no-interest
loan payable if and when the relo cated homeowner sold th e replacement
dwelling.
g.

Qualified tenants who m

oved into non-subsidized rental units were

eligible for up to $4,000.00 in assist ance as provided by N.J.A.C. 5: 113.5 and additional assistance up to $3,500.00.
h.

However, homeowners or tenants who used relocation funds to m ove out
the Gardens would not be eligible for additional relocation funds to return
to the Gardens if and when any af

fordable un its were ultim ately

constructed.
139.

In Nove mber 2006, the Township received notification fro m the Departm ent of

Community Affairs that the Relocation Plan was approved.
140.

On Nove mber 15, 2006, Triad opened

an office in the

Gardens to conduct

relocation activities.
141.

Triad staff began to send letters and noti ces to tenant households asking them to

come in for interviews.
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142.

After assessing their housing needs, Triad staff st arted t o make effort s to l ocate

housing for these households outside of the Gardens.
143.

The Township did not provide any relo cation assistance to residents who m oved

out of the Gardens prior to November 2006.
144.

Since the R elocation Plan was approved in N ovember, 2006 through January,

2008, the Township paid relocation funds to 62 families to move out of the Gardens.
145.

Of these 62 households, 43, or 69%, were relocated outside of Mt. Holly.

4. Demolition of Units
146.

The Township and Redevelopers have

and are continuing to dism

antle the

Gardens community by demolishing homes in the Gardens.
147.

As of May 2008, the T ownship has dem olished a total of 73 residential units,

most of which were previously occupied by tenants or homeowners.
148.

Although the Township claimed that the demolitions of the houses were necessary

for health and safety concerns

, the units were generally st

ructurally sound, capable of

rehabilitation, and did not pose a threat to public safety.
149.

To the extent the units w ere in poor condi tion and being used by trespassers, this

was a result of the Township’s failure to take measures to adequately secure and maintain them.
5. Reduction in Municipal Services
150.

Starting in 2000, before the Township even

initiated the for mal redevelopm ent

planning process, the Township itself began to create blighted conditions in the Gardens.
151.

Starting in 2000 and continuing during the course of the redevelopm ent process,

the Township neglected the needs of the Gardens neighborhood by failing to apply for and utilize
available funding for community improvements and housing rehabilitation.
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152.

From January 1999 to the present, th

e T ownship entered into regional

contribution agreements pursuant to the New Je rsey Fair H ousing Act, N.J.S.A. 52: 27D-301 et
seq., with the m unicipalities of Moorestown, Ha inesport, and Westhampton, with the Township
receiving more than $4

m illion to rehabilita te 218 residential units

occupied b y low and

moderate income households within Mount Holly.
153.

The Township has not at any tim e allocated or used any funds from the regional

contribution agreements to rehabilitate homes in the Gardens.
154.

The Township failed to utilize a $25,000 grant from the New Jersey Departm ent

of Community Affairs earmarked for social, educational, and recreational programs for residents
at the Gardens community center and in July, 2003 was forced to return the unspent funds.
155.

In 2004, the Township rem oved the only playground equipm ent in the Gardens

and refused to replace it.
156.

The Township also failed to

cond uct pr oper code enforcem ent, prompt trash

removal, adequate policing, and other basic services needed by the Gardens residents.
157.

The Township twice u sed its v acant properties in the Gar dens to con duct live

police tactical training, bringing in numerous police officers and vehicles into the Gardens in the
early morning hours, without providing advance notice to residents in the neighborhood.
158.

The Towns hip’s failure to provide adequate and proper municipal services has

negatively impacted upon the community and decreased the quality of life for residents.
159.

In spite of the Township’s actions, Garden s residents, through their own efforts,

continued to com bat significant deterioration of thei r neighborhood and tried to preserve their
quality of life.
F. Continued Planning and Changes to WR Redevelopment Plan
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160.

On March 9, March 23, and April 5, 2006, th e Redevelopers held three meetings

with Gardens residents.
161.

The residents participating in these m

eetings thought that the purpose of the

meetings was to consider revisions to the redevelopment plan.
162.

At all three of the m

eetings, Gard ens residents gave input about the

redevelopment process and stated th at they did not want to lose their homes or to be m oved out
of the Gardens.
163.

The Gardens residen ts presented to the

Redevelopers a list of proposals for

revising the WR Redevelopm ent Plan, which included a g uarantee of affordable replacem ent
units for all residents to be displaced who wished to remain in the Gardens.
164.

At the third meeting, resident surveys were distributed.

165.

In July of 2006, Triad com pleted the resi dent survey process. 169 households

responded, including 107 tenant households and 60 homeowners.
166.

The Triad survey showed that 120 out of the 169 families were interested in either

purchasing or renting a new home in the Gardens, only 64 families were interested in purchasing
or renting outside of the Gardens, and only 8 households were interested in selling their property.
167.

In or about October 2006, the Township and Redevelopers notified the residents

of the completion of the Relocation Plan.
168.

The Relocation Plan stat

ed that 560 units were being planned for the

redevelopment area.
169.

The Township and Redevelopers have not given residents any other infor mation

about any proposed or adopted changes, revisi ons, or am endments to the WR Re development
Plan.
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170.

During the period between February

of 2006 and Se

ptember 2007, the

Redevelopers prepared and revi sed approximately eight conceptu al plans for the redevelopm ent
area, referred to by the Township as “concept plans”.
171.

Since the adoption of the W R Redevelopm ent Plan, the Township Council has

conducted many discussions during closed executive session.
172.

The Township did not provide any public notice regarding the concept plans that

were being prepared by the Redevelopers.
173.

The Township did not conduct any public meetings regarding the concept plans.

174.

Upon information and belief, the T ownship did not refer any of the concept plans

or any other proposed am endments to the W R Re development Plan to the Planning Board for
review.
175.

On September 10, 2007, during a C ouncil meeting, Township Manager Hoffm an

advised the Council and the public that the Redevelopers should be coming to present a revised
plan to Council in approxim ately two weeks and that hop efully af ter th e plan is approved the
Redevelopers would be coming forth with funding to offset the 2008 budget.
176.

The Township Manger’s statement on September 10, 2007 was the only tim e that

that the Township discussed the Redevelopers’ concept plans during a Council m eeting that was
open to the public.
177.

The m ost recent concep t plan p roposes construction of 203 m arket rate and 25

COAH incom e restricted apartm ents and 261 m arket rate and 31 COAH townhouses, totaling
520 housing units.
178.

The Township Council scheduled an execu tive session to discuss and approve the

concept plan, without adopting a Re solution pursuant to the Open Public Meeting Act, N.J.S.A.
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179.

On or about Septem ber 24, 2007, the To wnship Council approved the concept

plan during a closed executive session.
180.

The Township Council approved the concep t plan without any public notification

about the concept plan or any opportunity for public input.
181.

The Township Council has not provided a ny information to the public about the

actions taken during the executive session when

the Township discussed and approved the

concept plan.
182.

The Township has n

ot tak en a ny action to f

ormally am end the W

R

Redevelopment Plan pursuant to the LRHL, N.J.S.A. 40A:12A-7.
183.

The redevelopment project for the Gardens, as amended through the approval of

the concept plan, is inconsistent with the Township’s Master Plan and Reexamination.
184.

The Township has not followed the procedures set forth in the LRHL, N.J.S.A.

40A:12A-7, for review and adoption of a redevelopment plan that is not consistent with the
Master Plan.
G. Failure to Provide Affordable Replacement Units
185.

The Township estim ates that the prices of the n ew townhouses to be bu ilt in the

redevelopment area will range

from $200,000 to 275,000

and that apartm ents will rent at

approximately $1.65 per square foot, with a one-bedroom unit renting for $1,230 per month.
186.

Nearly all Gardens residents cannot afford to purchase or rent the new units.
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187.

The affordable housing provision in the WR Re development does not constitu te

adequate replacement housing because it proposes to create only 23 affordable units, without any
guarantee that even these 23 units would be realis

tically af fordable or available to current o r

displaced Gardens residents.
188.

The new concept plan approved by the Council on September 24, 2007, also does

not provide for adequate replacem ent housing b ecause it proposes to replace the 32 9 Gardens
homes with only 56 affordable units, without a

ny guarantee that even any of these 56 units

would be realistically affordable or available to Gardens residents.
H. Harm to Residents and CIA by Township’s and Redeveloper’s Actions
189.

By acquiring and vacating properties, faili ng to m aintain the proper ties it owns,

reducing municipal services, dem olishing units, and creating increasingly blighted conditions in
the Gardens, the Township and Redevelopers have

in terfered and are continu ing to sev erely

interfere with the Gardens residents’ use and enjoyment of their property and to otherwise injure
Gardens residents.
190.

Gardens residents risk losing their financ ial in vestments in their homes if they

continue to make improvements or repairs.
191.

Because the Township’s and Redeveloper’s actions have created severely blighted

conditions and greatly lowered

property values, and because of

the imm inent threat of

condemnation, Gardens residents ar e unable to sell their hom e on the private m arket at a price
that provides just com pensation and that woul d enab le them to find alternate com
housing.
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192.

The Towns hip’s proposed prices for pur

chase of the properties also do not

constitute just compensation and are inadequate to enable residents to pu rchase decent, safe, and
affordable comparable replacement housing.
193.

Because of the Township-cau

sed increas ed vacancy rate, pro

liferation of

abandoned home, and ugly appearance of the nei ghborhood, Gardens resident s increasingly fear
for their security and safety, experience pest in festation and mold, cannot enjoy spending tim e in
their yards and open areas, and are embarrassed to have family and friends visit.
194.

Gardens residents have expe rienced and are continuing to experience great stress,

anxiety, and grief because of their fear of losing their homes and their strong community ties and
becoming unable to find adequate affordable replacement housing.
195.

Many former Gardens residents have

moved out of the Gardens comm

unity

because the community had becom e such an un desirable an d unsafe place to live and because
eventual eviction or condemnation by the Township appeared inevitable.
196.

Many form er Gardens residents who m oved out of the Gardens under threat of

condemnation or eviction have not been able

to find com parable replacem ent housing at

locations as desirable as the Gard ens community and have been forced to live under worse
conditions and/or pay higher housing costs.
197.

The Township’s and Redeveloper’s acti ons have harm ed CIA by impeding its

ability to organize residents and operate effectively as a representative organization.
198.

The Township’s and

Redevelo per’s con certed actio ns to effectuate the

redevelopment of the Gardens between March of 2005 and the present, including the acquisition,
vacation, an d dem olition of properties, the reloca tion of residen ts, th e creation of severely
blighted living conditions, the failu re to provi de affordable replacem ent housing, an d the inju ry
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suffered by the Residen ts as a result of these acti ons render ripe for adjudi cation the ci vil rights
and cons titutional c laims tha t wer e dism issed b y the state court witho ut pr ejudice f or la ck of
ripeness.
FIRST COUNT
UNLAWFUL DISCRIMINATION UNDER THE FAIR HOUSING ACT,
42 U.S.C. § 3601 et seq.
199. Residents and CIA reallege

and incorporate by referenc e the allega tions in a ll

previous Paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully pleaded herein.
200. By the actions described above, the Townsh ip and Redevelopers have violated and
continue to violate the rights of plaintiffs under the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3601

et seq.

and implementing regulations by:
a. Making unavailable or denying dwellings to persons because of race, color and
national origin, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3604(a) and implementing regulations;
b. Discriminating on the basis of race, co
conditions or privileges of services or
rental of a swelling

lor or national origin

in the term

s,

facilities in connecti on with the sale or

in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3604(b) and im

plementing

regulations; and
c. Coercing, intimidating, threatening or inte rfering with any person' s exercise of his
or her rights protected under 42 U.S.C. § 3604, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3617.
201. The Township’s and R edevelopers’ actions , practices and policies, as described
above in the Complaint, have had and continue to have a substantial adverse, disparate impact on
African-American and Hispanic households in vi olation of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. §
3604 (a) and (b).
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a. The Township’s and Redevelopers’ actions, practices and policies will dismantle and
destroy the Gardens, which is predom inately African-American and Hispanic and has
the most concentrated populations of Afri can-American and Hispanic persons in the
Township.
b. The Towns hip’s and R edevelopers’ actions, practices and p olicies will substantia lly
and disproportionately displace African-Am erican and Hispanic households from the
Gardens and from Mt. Holly Township, who are mostly lower and m oderate income
and who cannot afford the hom es that will be constructed in th e Gardens or existing
housing in the local housing market.
c.

The Township’s and Redeveloper s’ ac tions, practices an d policies will d estroy
hundreds of residential hom es affor dable to lower and modera te incom e AfricanAmerican and Hispanic Household s wit hout providing replacem ent housing th at is
affordable to most such households.

202.

In addition, the Township’s a ctions dem onstrate tha t Township of ficials ac ted

with intent to discriminate, as follows:
a. The Township knew that the residents of

the Gardens were predom inately African-

American and Hispanic, and that the Gardens

comm unity was one of the m

ost

concentrated populations of African-American and Hispanic persons in the Township.
b. The Township decided to abandon efforts to rehabilitate the Gardens and instead
initiate a redevelopm ent project that would require the f orcible relo cation of all o r
most Gardens residents.
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c. Even before adoption of a redevelopm ent pl an, the Township took actions to create
blighted conditions in the Gardens and to drive down the costs of property acquisition
and relocation.
d. The Township knew or should have known th at the predominately African-American
and Hispanic Gardens residents would be unable to afford t he proposed new housing
to be constructed under the Redevelopment Plan.
e. The Township also knew or had reason to know that there was an inadequate supply
of affordable housing in the area and especially within the Township.
f.

The Towns hip knew or had reason to know that Gardens residents would find few
affordable housing options within Mt. Ho lly Township and woul d b e lik ely to be
forced to move out to other municipalities.

g. The Towns hip knew or should have known that im

plementation of the WR

Redevelopment Plan would th erefore resu lt in decreasi ng the num bers of AfricanAmerican and Hispanic residents in Mt. Holly.
h. The Township knew or should have known th at the African-Am erican and Hispanic
residents would experience severe hardship from being forcibly relocated and would
have great difficulty in securing adequate replacement housing.
i. The Township officials also knew or ha

d reason to know that the redevelopm

ent

would thus cause severe harm to Gardens re sidents, as they would lose their hom es
and their comm unity and have great difficu lty in finding decent, safe, affordable
replacement housing in Mt Holly Township and the surrounding region.
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j. The Township officials adopted and began to implement the Gardens Redevelopment
Plan and the WR Redevelopm ent Plan with the intent to displace cu rrent Garde ns
residents and force a significant number of them to move out of Mt Holly.
k. The Gardens comm unity, which has the highe st concen tration of African-Am erican
and Hispanic resid ents in the Township, is the only community th e Township has
targeted for large-scale displacement and relocation.
l. The Towns hip deviated from procedural and substantive nor ms by violating the
procedures m andated by the LRHL, N.J.S.A. 40A:12A-1

et seq. , and the OPMA,

N.J.S.A. 10: 4-12, as described m ore fully under the Seventh and Eighth Counts of
the Complaint.
m. The Township deviated from procedural and substantive norms by adopting revisions
to the WR Redevelopment Plan that are inconsistent with the policies and priorities of
the Township’s Master Plan.
n. The Towns hip knowingly and deliberately created adverse and unsafe living
conditions at the Gardens by failing to
purchasing properties and leaving them

provide adequate e ssential services, by
in vacant and deteriorated condition, by

demolishing structurally sound units that we re capable of rehabilitation, by failing to
obtain and expend funds for community

improvements, and by failing to support

community-led initiatives for improving housing and quality of life in the Gardens.
o. The Towns hip intentionally took action

to drive down property values and it

s

acquisition and re location costs, improperly assessed the value of the p roperties, and
failed to make availab le to the p redominately African-Am erican a nd Hispanic
Gardens residents just compensation and adequate relocation assistance.

37

Case 1:08-cv-02584-NLH-JS Document 1 Filed 05/27/08 Page 38 of 55 PageID: 38

p. The Township’s prior history regarding its trea tment the Ga rdens and its adoption of
the W R Redevelopm ent Plan despite know

ledge of its discrim

inatory effects

demonstrate that the To wnship intended to and did discriminate against plaintiffs on
the basis of race, color, and national origin.
q.

The Township intentionally took action it knew or should have known would coerce ,
intimidate, threaten and interfere with re sidents' rights to rent, own, sell, buy and
otherwise exercise their rights protected under the 42 U.S.C § 3604 by coercing
residents to sell their property to the Township, by leaving the properties it purchased
vacant, po orly m aintained and attractiv
demolishing units attached to units it kne

e to vandalizers and trespassers, b

y

w to be occupied by residents, thus

frightening the residents and structurally dam aging their units, by conducting live
police weap ons and tactics team trainings in vacant units in view of residents and
their children and by sending

residents no tices of re location in terviews, that the y

knew or should have known would be coer cive, intimidating, threatening and would
interfere with residents' rights.
203. By the actions described above, the To

wnship has intentionally, knowingly, and

continuously discrim inated against African Am erican, Hispanic and other residents of the
Gardens neighborhood because of thei r race, color o r national orig in, or th e racial, co lor o r
national origin composition of their neighborhood, in violation of the Fair Housing Act.
204. The Township have intentionally, knowi

ngly, and continuously engaged in the

practices described above that have a predictable discriminatory effect with the intent of denying
equal housing opportunities to Residents.
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205.

The actions of the Township and Re

developers in adopting, revising, and

implementing the redevelopment plans for the Ga rdens have caused and ar e continuing to cause
severe harm to the low and m oderate incom e, predom inately African -American and Hispanic
Gardens residents.
206. The acts and conduct of the Township and Redevelopers com plained of above have
caused and continue to cause substantial injury to each of the individual plaintiffs and to plaintiff
Citizens in Action.
SECOND COUNT
VIOLATION OF CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1866,
42 U.S.C. §1982
207. Residents and CIA reallege

and incorporate by referenc e the allega tions in a ll

previous Paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully pleaded herein.
208. The Civil Rights Act of 1866, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 1982, guarantees that “[a]ll
citizens of the United States shall have the sam e right, in every State and Territory, as is enjoyed
by white citizens thereo f to inherit, purchase, lease, sell, hold, and convey real and personal
property.”
209. By seeking to dem olish all 329 hom es within the Gardens neighborhood and
proposing to constru ct much more expensive replacement housing units unaffordable to m ost
African-American and Hispanic households living in the Gardens, the Township is intentionally
seeking to deprive the plaintiffs and other Africa n-American and Hispanic resid ents of the same
right to inherit, purchase, lease, sell, hold, and convey real and personal property as is enjoyed by
white citizens, in violation of to 42 U.S.C. § 1982.
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210. The Township has otherwise intentionally discriminated against Residents and other
African-American and Hispanic residents of the Gardens neighborhood as described under the
First and Third Counts of this Complaint.
211. The Township has thus violated plaintiffs rights guaranteed under 42 U.S.C. §1982.
THIRD COUNT
VIOLATION OF EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSE OF FOURTEENTH
AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION ACTIONABLE
PURSUANT TO 42 U.S.C. § 1983
212. Residents and CIA reallege and incor

porate by reference the allegations in all

previous Paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully pleaded herein.
213. The Township has intentionally discrim inated against plaintif f Residents and other
African-American and Hispanic residents of the Gardens neighborhood as described under the
First and Second Counts of this Complaint.
214. The Township has, under color of state law, intentionally deprived the Residents of
their rights to equal protec

tion under the law as guaranteed

to them by the Fourteenth

Amendment of the United States C onstitution becau se of their race, e thnicity and/or nation al
origin, actionable pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983.
FOURTH COUNT
VIOLATION OF NEW JERSEY LAW AGAINST DISCRIMINATION,
N.J.S.A. 10:5-1 ET SEQ.
215. Residents and CIA reallege

and incorporate by referenc e the allega tions in a ll

previous Paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully pleaded herein.
216. N.J.S.A. 10:5-12.5 of the New Jersey Law Agains t Discrimination states that “[i]t
shall be unlawful discrim ination for a m unicipality, county or oth er local civ il or political
subdivision of the State of New Jersey, or an officer, em ployee, or agent thereof, to exercise the
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power to regulate land use or housi ng in a m anner that discriminates on the basis of race, creed,
color, national origin, ancestry, marital status, familial status, sex, nationality or handicap”
217. As set forth in Counts One through Three, the Township has taken actions that are
causing and will contin ue to cause the disp roportionate d isplacement and forced rem oval of
African-American and Hispanic ho useholds, that have reduced a nd will continue to reduce th e
overall number of African-Am erican and Hispan ic households living in Mt. Holly Township,
that discrim inate against African-A merican an d Hispanic households living in the Gardens
neighborhood in the provision of services or facilities in connection with housing, that will create
barriers for African-Americ an and Hispanic ho useholds to rem ain in and m ove into Mt. Holly
Township, and that thus have a discrim inatory impact upon the basis of race, co lor and national
origin and perpetuate segregation within Mt. Holly Township in violation of N.J.S.A. 10:5-12.5.
218. In addition to vio lating the New Jers

ey Law Against Disc

rimination due to

discriminatory impact, the Township has inten tionally discriminated against plaintiffs and other
African-American and Hispanic households liv ing in the Gardens ne ighborhood contrary to
N.J.S.A. 10:5-12.5 as described under the Counts One through Three of this Complaint.
219. In addition, as set forth previously herein, the Township and Redevelopers have
otherwise discriminated against African-American and Hispanic households in the provision of
housing in violation of N.J.S.A. 10:5-4 of the LAD.
220. The Township and R

edevelopers have

thus unlawfully disc riminated against

plaintiffs in violation of N.J.S.A . 10:5-4 and N.J.S.A . 10:5-12.5 of the New Jersey L aw Against
Discrimination.
FIFTH COUNT
VIOLATION OF EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSE OF ARTICLE I,
PARAGRAPH 1 OF NEW JERSEY CONSTITUTION
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221. Residents and CIA reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations in all
previous Paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully pleaded herein.
222. The Township has intentionally discriminated against plaintiff Residents and other
African-American and Hispanic residents of the Gardens neighborhood by initiating and
implementing a redevelopment project that forcibly displaces these residents as described under
the First, Second, Third, Fourth, and Fifth Counts of this Complaint.
223. The Township, under color of state law, has intentionally deprived the plaintiffs of
their rights to equal protection of the law because of their race, ethnicity and/or national origin,
in violation of Article I, Paragraph 1 of New Jersey Constitution.
SIXTH COUNT
VIOLATION OF LOCAL REDEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING LAW,
N.J.S.A. 40A:12A-1 ET SEQ., BY SUBSTANTIAL AND MATERIAL CHANGES TO THE
WR REDEVELOPMENT PLAN WITHOUT FORMAL REVISION OR AMENDMENT
224. Residents and CIA reallege

and incorporate by referenc e the allega tions in a ll

previous Paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully pleaded herein.
225. The LRHL, N.J.S.A. 40A:12A-7, provides th at no redevelopm ent project shall be
undertaken or carried o ut except in accordan ce with a redevelopment plan adopted by ordinance
of the municipal governing body.
226. The LRHL, N.J.S.A. 40A:12A-8, further provides th at a m unicipality may proceed
with a redevelopm ent projec t upon the adoption of a redeve lopment plan pursuant to N.J.S.A.
40A:12A-7.
227. The LRHL, N.J.S.A. 40A:12A-7(e), further requires that “Prior to the ad option of a
redevelopment plan, or revision or amendment thereto, the planning bo ard shall transmit to the
governing body, within 45 days after referral, a report containing its recommendation concerning
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the redevelopment plan;” and it further requir es that “[T]he governing body, when considering
the adoption of a redevelopm ent plan or revision or am endment thereof, shall review the report
of the planning board”.
228. The Council failed to refer to the Pl

anning Board proposed am

endments or

revisions to the W R Redevelopment Plan and the Township Planning Board did not conduct a
review of such proposed amendments or revisions.
229. The Council therefore did not review a re

port of the Planning Board concerning

such revisions or amendments.
230. The Council further failed to hold a pub

lic hearing and to

adopt by ordinance

amendments to the WR Redevelopment Plan.
231. The Council violated the LRHL, N.J.S.A. 40A:12A-7, by approving significant and
material changes to the W R Redevelopm ent Plan in closed session without enactm ent of an
ordinance.
232. The Township and Redevelopers are pro ceeding to im plement the new version of
the redeve lopment plan despite the Township’s

failure to am end t he redevelopm ent plan

pursuant to the LRHL.
233. The actions of the Township in making revisions to and proceeding to effectuate the
Redevelopment Plan are arbitrary and capricious, unreasonable and ultra vires.
SEVENTH COUNT
VIOLATION OF LRHL, N.J.S.A. 40A:12A-7, BY MAKING DE FACTO REVISIONS TO
REDEVELOPMENT PLAN RENDERING IT INCONSISTENT WITH TOWNSHIP
MASTER PLAN
234. Residents and CIA reallege

and incorporate by referenc e the allega tions in a ll

previous Paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully pleaded herein.
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235. The LRHL, N.J.S.A. 40A:12A-7, states: “All provisions of the redevelopment plan
shall be either substantially consistent with the municipal master plan or designed to effectuate
the m aster plan; but the m unicipal governing body m ay adopt a redevelopm ent plan which is
inconsistent with or not designed to effectuate the master plan by af firmative vote of a m ajority
of its f ull authorized membership with the r easons for so acting set forth in the redevelopm ent
plan.”
236. The LRHL, N.J.S.A. 40A:12A-7, also provi des for a review by the planning board
of consistency of a proposed redevelopment plan with the municipality’s master plan.
237. Upon information and belief, neither the Township Planning Board nor Township
Council evaluated the consistency of the de fact o revisions to the W R Redevelopment Plan, as
set forth in the Developer’s concept plan, for consistency with the master plan.
238. The de facto revisions that the Council in formally endorsed on or about Septem ber
24, 2007, and has acted to im plement rendered the WR Redevelopment Plan to be substantially
inconsistent with the Township master plan and fails to effectuate the master plan.
239. The Council violated the LRHL by failing to comply with the procedures m andated
by N.J.S.A. 40A:12A-7(d) for adopting a redevelopm ent pl an that is inconsistent with or not
designed to effectuate a master plan.
EIGHTH COUNT
VIOLATION OF THE OPEN PUBLIC MEETINGS ACT, N.J.S.A. 10:40-6 ET SEQ.,BY
DE FACTO REVISION OF WR REDEVELOPMENT PLAN IN CLOSED SESSION
240. Residents and CIA reallege

and incorporate by referenc e the allega tions in a ll

previous Paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully pleaded herein.
241. The Open Public Meetings Act (“OPMA

”), N.J.S.A. 10:4-12, requires that “all

meetings of public bodies shall be open to the pub lic at all tim es,” with the exception that the
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public body may exclude the public only from that portion of a meeting at which the public body
discusses certain topics specifically enumerated in subsection b. of that section of the statute.
242. OPMA, N.J.S.A. 10:4-13, further provides that “[N]o public body shall exclude the
public from any meeting to discuss any matter described in subsection 7. b. until the public body
shall first adopt a resolution, at a m eeting to wh ich the public shall b e admitted: a. Stating th e
general nature of the su bject to be discussed; and b. Statin g as precisely as possib le, the tim e
when and the circumstances under which the discussion conducted in closed session of the public
body can be disclosed to the public.”
243. The Council violated the OPMA, N.J.S.A. 10:4-12 and N.J.S.A. 10:4-13, when it
failed to adopt a proper resolution authorizing

a closed session, engaged in discussions with

Redevelopers and approved a concept plan prepared by the Redevelopers in a closed session, and
failed to formalize such action in open session and to give public notification of its actions.
NINTH COUNT
VIOLATION OF THE RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS OF LAW AND FUNDAMENTAL
FAIRNESS AS GUARANTEED BY ARTICLE I, PARAGRAPH 1 OF THE NEW
JERSEY CONSTITUTION
244. Residents and CIA reallege and incorpor

ate b y reference the allegations in all

previous Paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully pleaded herein.
245. The Township failed to provide individualized notice to all owners of properties to
be acquired under the WR Redevelopm ent Plan and to otherwise m eaningfully inform and give
notice to residents of the effects of redevelopm ent activities upon their constitutionally protected
property rights.
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246. The Township conducted private m eetings with Redevelopers and other entities
regarding the redevelopment initiative without g iving notice to res idents or an opportunity to b e
heard.
247. The Towns hip m ade re visions to the W R Redevelopm ent Plan without holding a
public m eeting as required by OPMA, N.J.S.

A. 10:4-13, conducting a for

mal process for

amending a redevelopment plan as required by the LRHL, N.J.S.A. 40A:12A-7, and providing
notice to the public and an opportunity for residents to he heard with regard to the amendments.
248. The Towns hip has taken im

proper actions to am

end and im

plement the

redevelopment plan without adequate notice an d an opportunity to be heard, significantly and
substantially interfering with and infringing upon the property rights of Residents.
249. The Township’s failure to follow the LRHL’s form al plan am endment procedures,
before tak ing dras tic im plementation actio ns destroying and dism

antling the Gardens

neighborhood, is unjust and arbitrary governm ental action, resulting in th e unfair treatm ent of
Gardens residents, and inflicting upon them oppre ssion, harassment, and eg regious deprivation
causing unjustified harassment, anxiety, and expense.
250. The Township’s actions violate due process and fundamental fairness under the
Article 1, Paragraph 1, of the New Jersey Constitution.
TENTH COUNT
VIOLATION OF THE RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS OF LAW AS GUARANTEED BY
THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION
ACTIONABLE PURSUANT TO 42 U.S.C. §1983
251. Residents and CIA reallege

and incorporate by referenc e the allega tions in a ll

previous Paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully pleaded herein.
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252. As set forth above in the Ninth Count of this Complaint, the Township has taken
actions that infringe upon and deprive Residents of their property rights without meaningful and
adequate notice and opportunity to be heard.
253. The Township, acting under color of state law, has deprived Residents of their
rights secured by the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, actionable under 42
U.S.C. § 1983.
ELEVENTH COUNT
ADOPTION, REVISION, AND IMPLEMENTATION OF THE REDEVELOPMENT
PLAN IS ARBITRARY, CAPRICIOUS, AND UNREASONABLE
254. Residents and CIA reallege

and incorporate by referenc e the allega tions in a ll

previous Paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully pleaded herein.
255. The actions of the Township in 1) adopt

ing a redevelopm ent plan that fails to

provide for the housing needs of its residents, reduces the supply of affordable housing, forcibly
displaces low and m oderate income f amilies; 2) revising the plan without f ollowing statutorily
mandated procedures that provide for public notice and input; and 3) acting in an

ultra vires

manner to ef fectuate this redev elopment plan as revised, while causing severe harm

to the

residents of the Gardens, are in contravention to the plan ’s own stated goals, in consistent with
the purposes of LRHL, N.J.S.A. 40A:12A-2, and arbitrary, capricious, and unreasonable.
TWELTH COUNT
VIOLATION OF THE GENERAL WELFARE UNDER ARTICLE I, PARAGRAPH 1
OF THE NEW JERSEY CONSTITUTION
256. Residents and CIA reallege

and incorporate by referenc e the allega tions in a ll

previous Paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully pleaded herein.
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257.

The general welfare under Article I, Para graph 1 of the New Jersey Constitu tion

requires municipalities to regulate and use land to promote the public health, safety, and general
welfare of people of all incom es and econom ic st atus within the m unicipality, and therefore
prohibits municipalities from using their redevelopment police powers in a manner that displaces
and excludes existing lower-income residents from their community.
258.

The WR Redevelopm ent Plan calls for re placing the 329 reside ntial units in the

Gardens with 228 residential units, of which only 10%—a total of 23—would be affordable
housing units, with the remaining 205 units to be market rate units.
259.

The Towns hip is in the process of acquiring and dem olishing all of the existing

homes in the Gardens, although the houses were

structurally sound and the Township had not

demonstrated that they constituted a substantia l threat to health and sa fety and could not be
restored to standard condition within a reasonable time and at a reasonable expense.
260.

Most of the households in the Gardens are lower and m oderate income and will

not be able to afford the market rate units called for in the WR Plan
261.

The Township has violated the general we lfare under Article I, Paragraph of the

New Jersey Constitution by adopting and implementing the WR Redevelopment Plan and failing
to ensure th at the regulation a nd use of land be m ade in such m anner as to prom ote the public
health, safety, and general welfare of people of all incomes and economic status within Mt. Holly
Township; by destroying existing affordable hou sing and forcibly displacing low and m oderate
income residents; by failing to re place lost affordable housing; and by failing to act and legislate
for the general welfare of people throughout the
wherein Mt. Holly Township lies.
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262.

The Township has furth er violated the general welfare by implem enting the W R

Redevelopment Plan in a m anner that has create d unsafe and increasingly blighted conditions,
greatly decreased quality of life, i

nterfered w ith the residents’ use and enjoyment of their

property, forced residents to m ove out of their community, and pr ovided them with inadequa te
compensation and relocation ass istance to en able them to secure com parable decent safe
replacement housing in the Township.
263.

The Township’s proposed de facto changes to the WR Redevelopment Plan,

increasing the total number of re sidential units to be built in the redevelo pment area to 520, and
proposing construction of only 56 CO AH units, also violate the ge neral welfare by proposing to
destroy existing housing affordable to low and

moderate incom e Gardens residents and to

forcibly displace most low and moderate income Gardens families; and by failing to replace lo st
affordable housing and guarantee th at any of th e new units would be realis tically affordable or
available to Gardens residents .
THIRTEENTH COUNT
DENIAL OF JUST COMPENSATION UNDER 5TH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED
STATES CONSTITUTION ACTIONABLE PURSUANT TO 42 U.S.C. § 1983
264. Residents and CIA reallege

and incorporate by referenc e the allega tions in a ll

previous Paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully pleaded herein.
265. The Fif th Am endment to the United States Constitu

tion prohibits the taking of

private property without provision of just compensation.
266. The prices that the Township has p aid a nd is continuing to offer for purchases of
property do not constitute just compensation.
267. In addition, within the context of redevelop ment of lower incom e comm unities
resulting in low and m oderate incom e hom eowners being displaced, paym ent of fair m arket
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value does not constitute just compensation where fair market value is less than th e replacement
value of housing within the local housing market.
268. As a result, the Township, acting under colo r of state law, is depriving homeowner
Residents of just compensation in violation of the Fifth Amendment.
FOURTEENTH COUNT
DENIAL OF JUST COMPENSATION UNDER ARTICLE 1, PARAGRAPH 20 OF THE
NEW JERSEY CONSTITUTION
269. Residents and CIA reallege

and incorporate by referenc e the allega tions in a ll

previous Paragraphs of this Complaint as if fully pleaded herein.
270. Article I, Paragr aph 20 of the New Je rsey Constitu tion provides th at priva te
property may not be taken without just compensation.
271. Within the context of redevelopment of lower income communities resulting in low
and m oderate incom e hom eowners being displ aced, paym ent of fair m arket value does not
constitute just com pensation where fair m arket value is less than th

e rep lacement valu e of

housing within the local housing market.
272. As set forth in the Thirteenth Count of th is Complaint, the Township is seeking to
acquire property under threat of em

inent doma in without paym ent of just com pensation, in

violation of Article I, Paragraph 20 of the New Jersey Constitution.
PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Residents respectfully request that the Court enter judgment against the
Township and Redevelopers:
A.

Declaring that the Township and Redevel opers have violated Residents’ rights
under Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968, 42 U.S.C. §3601 et seq.;
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B.

Declaring that the Township has violated Residents’ rights u nder the New Jersey
Law Against Discrimination, N.J.S.A. 10:5-1 et seq.;

C.

Declaring that the Township has viol

ated Residents’ rights under 42 U.S.C.

§1982;
D.

Declaring that the Township has v iolated plaintiffs’ rights to equal protection of
the law guaranteed by the Fourteen

th Amendm ent to the United States

Constitution;
E.

Declaring that the Township has v iolated plaintiffs’ rights to equal protection of
the law as guaranteed by Article I, Paragraph 1 of New Jersey Constitution;

F.

Declaring that the Township has violated the LRHL;

G.

Declaring that the Township has violated the OPMA;

H.

Declaring the Township has dep rived Residents of due proce ss rights g uaranteed
under the United States Constitution;

I.

Declaring the Township has violated

due process and funda

mental fairness

guaranteed under the New Jersey Constitution;
J.

Declaring that the that the undervalued prices being offe
Township to purchase hom

red and paid by the

es under thr eat of e minent dom ain violate the

requirement of just compensation mandate d under Article I, Paragraph 20 of the
New Jersey Constitutio n and the Fif

th Amendm ent of the Unite

d States

Constitution;
K.

Declaring that within the context of redevelopment of lower income communities
resulting in low and m oderate income homeowners being displaced, paym ent of
fair market value violates the requirement of just compensation where fair market
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value is less than the replacem

ent valu e of housing within the local housing

market m andated under Article I, P aragraph 20 of the New Jersey Constitu tion
and the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution;
L.

Declaring the Township’s actions in

adopting, revising, and im plementing the

Redevelopment Plan are arbitrary, capricious, unreasonable, and ultra vires.
M.

Declaring that the Township has violat

ed the genera l welf are in Artic le I ,

Paragraph 1 of the New Jersey Constitution;
N.

Preliminarily and permanently en joining the T ownship and Redevelopers from
further implementing their current Redevelopment Plan;

O.

Preliminarily and permanently requiring the Township and Redevelopers to carry
out any further redevelopm ent in the

Gardens in a m anner having the least

discriminatory adverse impact upon African-American and Hispanic households;
P.

Preliminarily and pe rmanently prohibiting the Township and Redevelopers from
demolishing, rem oving, purchasing or
residential dwellings

within the Ga

obtaining through em

inent dom ain

rdens, or otherwise implem

enting

redevelopment, without providing for reha bilitation of housing and/or adequate
affordable replacement housing for all current and displaced Gardens residents.
Q.

Damages and/or just compensation suffici ent for Residents to secure perm anent
replacement housing in the local housing market;

R.

Preliminarily and permanently compelling th e Township to provid e the Gardens
residents with adequate m unicipal serv ices, including but not lim ited to police,
fire protection, code enforcement, trash collection and community services;

S.

Awarding compensatory damages;
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T.

Awarding punitive damages;

U.

Awarding plaintiffs costs of suit;

V.

Ordering the Township and Redevelopers to pay plaintiffs’ reasonable expert and
attorney’s fees, except that no attorney’s fees are requested by South Jerse y Legal
Services, Inc; and

W.

Granting such other relief and the Court deems just and proper.
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P 38(b) , the plaintiffs dem and a tria l by ju ry of all is sues so
triable as of right.
Dated: May 27, 2008
Bernice
Nixon,
Tirado,
Reynaldo
Nancy
Alandria

SOUTH JERSEY LEGAL SERVICES, INC.
Attorneys for Plaintiffs: Mt. Holly Gardens Citizens
In Action, Inc., Pedro Arocho, Christine Barnes,
Cagle, George Chambers, Dorothy
Chambers, Elida Echevaria, Norman Harris, Elmira
Leonardo Pagan, Joyce Starling, Taisha
Dagmar Vicente, Charlie Mae Wilson,
Arocho, Ana Arocho, Mattie Howell,
Lopez, Vincent Munoz, Henry Simons,
Warthen and Leona Wright
By:

/s/ Olga D. Pomar
OLGA D. POMAR, ESQUIRE

By:

/s/ Kenneth M. Goldman
KENNETH M. GOLDMAN, ESQUIRE
(KG 8040)

By:

/s/ David M. Podell
DAVID M. PODELL, ESQUIRE (DP 1975)

AARP
Arocho,
Munoz,
Baedresingh,
Rosem

FOUNDATION LITIGATION
Attorneys for Plaintiffs: Reynaldo Arocho, Ana
Mattie Howell, Nancy Lopez, Vincent
Henry Simons, Leona Wright, Lyra
Leon Calhoun, Santos Cruz,
ary Roberts, William Roberts, Lissette
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Rodriguez,
Moreno

Efraim Romero, Radames Torresand Lillian Torres-Moreno
By: /s/Susan Ann Silverstein
SUSAN ANN SILVERSTEIN, ESQUIRE
(pending admission pro hac vice)

POTTER

AND DICKSON
Attorneys for Plaintiffs: Lyra Baedresingh, Leon
Santos Cruz, Rosemary Roberts, William
Lissette Rodriguez, Efraim Romero,
es Torres-Moreno and Lillian Torres-Moreno

Calhoun,
Roberts,
Radam

By: /s/ R. William Potter
R. WILLIAM POTTER, ESQUIRE
L.Civ.R. 11.2 CERTIFICATION
Pursuant to L.Civ.R. 11.2, the undersigned a
controversy is not the subject

ttorneys hereby certify that the m atter in

of any other action pe nding in any court,

arbitration or administrative proceeding.

or of any pending

The undersigned attorneys certify that the foregoing

statements are true. The undersigned attorneys

understand that if any of the above statem ents

made by me are willfully false, the undersigned attorneys are subject to punishment.

Dated: May 27, 2008
Bernice
Nixon,
Tirado,
Reynaldo
Nancy
and

SOUTH JERSEY LEGAL SERVICES, INC.
Attorneys for Plaintiffs: Mt. Holly Gardens Citizens
In Action, Inc., Pedro Arocho, Christine Barnes,
Cagle, George Chambers, Dorothy
Chambers, Elida Echevaria, Norman Harris, Elmira
Leonardo Pagan, Joyce Starling, Taisha
Dagmar Vicente, Charlie Mae Wilson,
Arocho, Ana Arocho, Mattie Howell,
Lopez, Vincent Munoz, Henry Simons,
Leona Wright
By:

/s/ Olga D. Pomar
OLGA D. POMAR, ESQUIRE
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By:

/s/ Kenneth M. Goldman
KENNETH M. GOLDMAN, ESQUIRE
(KG 8040)

By:

/s/ David M. Podell
DAVID M. PODELL, ESQUIRE (DP 1975)

AARP
Arocho,
Munoz,
Baedresingh,
Rosem
Rodriguez,
Moreno

FOUNDATION LITIGATION
Attorneys for Plaintiffs: Reynaldo Arocho, Ana
Mattie Howell, Nancy Lopez, Vincent
Henry Simons, Leona Wright, Lyra
Leon Calhoun, Santos Cruz,
ary Roberts, William Roberts, Lissette
Efraim Romero, Radames Torresand Lillian Torres-Moreno
By: /s/Susan Ann Silverstein
SUSAN ANN SILVERSTEIN, ESQUIRE
(pending admission pro hac vice)

POTTER
Calhoun,
Roberts,
Radam

AND DICKSON
Attorneys for Plaintiffs: Lyra Baedresingh, Leon
Santos Cruz, Rosemary Roberts, William
Lissette Rodriguez, Efraim Romero,
es Torres-Moreno and Lillian Torres-Moreno
By: /s/ R. William Potter
R. WILLIAM POTTER, ESQUIRE
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